RECEIVED

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS

07-17-2018

OF WISCONSIN

State of Wisconsin 07 Court of Appeals District 1 01 Appeal No. 2018AP000871-CR

State of Wisconsin,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

V.

Andre L. Thornton,

Defendant-Appellant.

On appeal from a judgment of the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, The Honorable Joseph Donald, presiding

Defendant-Appellant's Brief and Appendix

Law Offices of Jeffrey W. Jensen 111 E. Wisconsin Avenue, Suite 1925 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4825

414-671-9484

Attorneys for the Appellant

Statement of the Issues

Whether the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion in denying Thornton's motion for a new trial based on newly-discovered evidence that one of the state's key witnesses had perjured himself in an earlier federal proceeding.

Answered by the circuit court: Although the evidence is newly discovered, it does not warrant a new trial because there was substantial other direct and circumstantial evidence of Thornton's guilt. As such, the newly-discovered evidence does not create a reasonable probability that the result of the trial would be different.

Summary of the Argument

The circuit court denied Thornton's postconviction motion because the court believed that there was "substantial direct and circumstantial evidence" of Thornton's guilt; and, therefore, there is not a reasonable probability that, even if the jury had known of the witness's perjury in federal court, the result of the trial would not have been different. The only such evidence that the court identified was a remark that Thornton supposedly made after the shooting to the effect that "I got his bitch ass."

This decision is an erroneous exercise of discretion because, first of all, there is absolutely no testimony in the record that Thornton said, "I got his bitch ass." The testimony was that James Pate made that remark after using the rifle to shoot at TW's car. Secondly, the circuit court did not identify any of this supposed "substantial evidence" of Thornton's guilt because there is none. The testimony of numerous witnesses was to the effect that James Pate was the shooter.

Thus, Bradley Lee's testimony that Thornton admitted to being the shooter was critical to the state's case. The evidence of Lee's perjury in federal court is not merely a supposition that Lee might deny on cross-examination, it is a finding of fact by a district court judge in a federal court proceeding. As such, it is just the sort of strong evidence of Lee's character so as to require a new trial.

Statement of the Case

I. Procedural History

On February 1, 2016, the defendant-appellant, Andre L. Thornton (hereinafter "Thornton"), was charged, as a party to the crime, with first degree reckless homicide arising out of an incident that occurred in Milwaukee on October 31, 2015. In a nutshell, the criminal complaint alleged that Thornton was involved in the shooting death of TW. Following a confrontation with Thornton and others earlier in the evening, TW was shot as he drove past Thornton's girlfriend's home in the early morning hours. TW then crashed into a tree, and he died from gunshot wounds.

Thornton waived a preliminary hearing and he was bound over for trial. (R:101-3) He later entered a not guilty plea to the charge. (R:102-2)

Other than perfunctory motions in limine, there were no pretrial motions.

The matter proceeded to trial before a jury beginning on October 24, 2017. After approximately four days of testimony, the jury returned a verdict finding Thornton guilty as charged. (R:114-13)

Thornton did not testify. (R:111-53)

The court sentenced Thornton to 28 years in prison,

bifurcated as 18 years of initial confinement, and 10 years of extended supervision.

Thornton timely filed a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief. (R:82)

On February 16, 2018, Thornton filed a postconviction motion seeking a new trial based upon newly-discovered evidence. (R:88) Thornton alleged that, after his trial, postconviction counsel learned that a state's witness, Bradley Lee¹, had previously perjured himself in a federal court proceeding in North Carolina. Id. Thornton argued that Lee, who claimed to have had a conversation with Thornton in jail in which Thornton admitted that he was involved in the shooting of TW, was a key state's witness in that it was the only testimony directly implicating Thornton in the shooting. ld. Thus, Thornton argued, this newly-discovered impeachment evidence was critical to Thornton's defense.

The circuit court ordered briefs on the motion. Without conducting an evidentiary hearing, on April 18, 2018, the trial court denied Thornton's motion by memorandum decision. (R:94; App. A)

Thornton now appeals.

¹ Not surprisingly, Bradley Lee is known by a number of aliases. In this matter, Lee may also be referred to as "Bradley Wallace." It is the same person.

II. Factual Background

A. The incident

On October 30-31, 2015, Thornton was at his girlfriend's apartment. His girlfriend is Corrina Williams ("Williams"). The apartment belongs to Williams' mother. (R:109-171)

Prior to that night, Thornton had had a disagreement with his brother, Jamaul Jones. Therefore, on the night in question, several of Jones' friends wanted the two brothers to iron-out their differences. (R:110-44) The men met at Williams' apartment. Eventually, the men were standing in front of Williams' apartment near 61st Street and Carmen Street in Milwaukee, when a Pontiac car slowly rolled past. (R:11-82) In the car was TW, who was the father of Williams' daughter. (R:109-164, 165) At that point, Thornton briefly confronted TW, but then TW drove away.

Thornton and his friends then got into a car and pursued TW. They caught up to him at about Silver Spring Drive. Some words were exchanged, and Thornton fired some shots at TW's car. (R:110-49) No one was hit by the shots.

Following this incident, Thornton was dropped off at Williams' apartment. (R:110-50)

Some time later, TW drove past Williams' home again, and this time he had more men with him in the car. Consequently, Thornton called his friends to come back.

(R:110-52) One man, Justin Speed, brought an AK-47 style rifle with him. (R:110-67; R:110-88, 89; R:110-138) The men waited in the kitchen. Approximately thirty minutes later, TW drove by again.

At this point, although the stories differ, there was testimony that one of Thornton's friends, James Pate, took the gun off the kitchen table, and went outside and fired shots at the car. (R:110-66; R:110-93, 94) TW was hit, and he crashed the car into a tree. He died from gunshot wounds. (R:109-153)

Jones testified that, immediately after the shooting, Pate said, "I got his bitch ass." (R:110-102)

Milwaukee Police investigated the incident. The police found Thornton inside the apartment. (R:109-123; 131) They also interviewed Williams, who at the time told them that she saw Thornton with the AK rifle that night. (R:109-213) According to Williams' statement to police, Thornton went outside with it, and then she heard shots. *Ibid.* p. 214

At trial, though, Williams testified that, at the time of the shooting, Thornton was asleep with her in bed. (R:109-177)

Speed also testified at trial, and he claimed that it was Pate who had the gun, and fired the shots. However, a Milwaukee Police detective, Jason Enk, said that when he first interviewed Speed, Speed said it was Thornton who fired the rife at TW. (R:111-25)

The police identified Speed's fingerprints on the rifle.

(R:111-54)

Significantly, the state called Bradley Lee at trial. Lee testified that, prior to Thornton's trial, he was in the same jail pod as Thornton. Lee claimed that Thornton made admissions to him about his involvement in this case. (R:112-19) According to Lee, Thornton told him that he (Thornton) had been involved in an altercation with TW. Thornton was in his home when the "other guy" circled around the block driving a car. When the car came around again, "Dre (Thornton) snatched the gun from him², ran downstairs and begin to shoot up the driver's side of the car with the assault rifle . . ." (R:112-19)

B. Thornton's postconviction motion

Thornton's postconviction motion alleged that on March 8, 2017, Asst. District Attorney Grant Huebner turned over to postconviction counsel a series of documents relating to Bradley Lee³. These materials establish that, in federal court in North Carolina in 2005, in the context of Lee's sentencing hearing, a United States District Court judge made a factual determination that Lee had committed perjury while testifying in a co-defendant's trial. (R:88; App. B)

The motion further alleged that these materials had never been disclosed to Thornton's trial counsel, Robert Webb. *Id.*

² Apparently meaning "Pate"

³ This was part of an unrelated case in which postconviction counsel coincidentally happened to be representing another person against whom Lee had agreed to testify. The other case is *State v. Oshay Randolph.*

Finally, the motion alleged that, "Lee is, apparently, a professional jail snitch. In addition to agreeing to testify in the Oshay Randolph matter, Lee wrote letters to ADA Laura Crivello on June 2, 2016 and July 7, 2015; and to ADA Dennis Stingl on April 27, 2017". *Id.*

The state conceded that the evidence was newly-discovered; however, the state argued that it is merely impeachment evidence, and it does not establish a reasonable probability that the result of the trial would be different even if the evidence were presented to the jury.

The circuit court agreed. The court wrote:

Even if the defendant's proffered impeachment evidence were presented at a new trial, the court finds that there is not a reasonable probability that the jury would reach a different verdict in this case. The State presented substantial direct and circumstantial evidence of the defendant's guilt, including evidence that the defendant stated to witnesses after the shooting, "I got his bitch ass." The defendant attaches too much significance to Lee's testimony, because he was not the State's only witness, and he was not the only witness to implicate the defendant in the shooting. Indeed, as the State points out in its response brief, the prosecutor made no reference to Lee's testimony during his closing argument in 16 pages of transcript, perhaps because of Lee's credibility issues, which indicates that his testimony was not as critical to the State's case as the defendant would have the court believe. Too, the record reflects that trial counsel effectively impeached Lee's credibility by attacking him with evidence of his ten prior convictions and suggesting a motivation to lie in order to better his own circumstances at his upcoming sentencing hearing

in North Carolina on three counts of forgery. The jury did not accept the whole of Lee's testimony, because it acquitted the defendant of the weapons enhancer, despite Lee's testimony that the defendant told him that he fired the shots at the vehicle. Given all of the other evidence the State presented of the 3 defendant's involvement in this offense, the court is not persuaded that there is a reasonable probability that a jury would reject the entirety of the State's evidence in this case and acquit the defendant of the underlying homicide ifit were presented with the additional impeachment evidence at a new trial. Consequently, the court finds that the defendant is not entitled to a new trial based on the proffered newly-discovered evidence.

(R:94)

Argument

I. The circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion in denying Thornton's postconviction motion. The court's decision was based on an inaccurate and incomplete view of the evidence presented at trial.

The circuit court denied Thornton's postconviction motion because the court believed that there was "substantial direct and circumstantial evidence" of Thornton's guilt; and, therefore, there is not a reasonable probability that, even if the jury had known of Lee's perjury in federal court, the result of the trial would not have been different. The only such evidence that the court identified was a remark that Thornton supposedly made after the shooting to the effect that "I got his bitch ass." This decision is an erroneous exercise of discretion because, first of all, there is absolutely no testimony in the record that *Thornton* said, "I got his bitch ass." The testimony was that James Pate made that remark after using the rifle to shoot at TW's car. Secondly, the circuit court did not identify any of this supposed "substantial evidence" of Thornton's guilt because there is none. The testimony of numerous witnesses was to the effect that James Pate was the shooter.

Thus, Bradley Lee's testimony that Thornton admitted to being the shooter was critical to the state's case. The evidence of Lee's perjury in federal court is not merely a supposition that Lee might deny on cross-examination, it is a finding of fact by a district court judge in a federal court proceeding that Lee cannot deny. As such, it is just the sort of strong evidence of Lee's character so as to require a new trial.

A. Standard of appellate review

"The decision to grant or deny a motion for a new trial based on newly discovered evidence is committed to the circuit court's discretion. [internal citation omitted] (The appellate court) review(s) the circuit court's determination for an erroneous exercise of discretion." *State v. Avery*, 2013 WI 13, ¶ 22, 345 Wis. 2d 407, 423, 826 N.W.2d 60, 68

"Failing to apply the proper legal standard is an erroneous exercise of discretion." *State v. Plude*, 2008 WI 58, ¶ 49, 310

Wis. 2d 28, 56, 750 N.W.2d 42, 56

B. Newly discovered evidence

As mentioned above, whether to grant a new trial on grounds of newly discovered evidence is normally a discretionary decision of the trial court. *State v. Boyce*, 75 Wis. 2d 452, 457, 249 N.W.2d 758, 760 (1977). For a movant to be successful in a motion for a new trial, the evidence must meet the following conditions:

(1) The evidence must have come to the moving party's knowledge after a trial; (2) the moving party must not have been negligent in seeking to discover it; (3) the evidence must be material to the issue; (4) the testimony must not be merely cumulative to the testimony which was introduced at trial; and (5) it must be reasonably probable that a different result would be reached on a new trial.

State v. Kimpel, 153 Wis. 2d 697, 701-02, 451 N.W.2d 790, 792 (Ct. App. 1989).

Significantly, "Wisconsin law has long held that impeaching evidence may be enough to warrant a new trial. [internal citation omitted] In commenting on the discovery that a trial witness could read and write English after he testified to the contrary, we stated: 'It may well be that newly discovered evidence impeaching in character might be produced so strong as to constitute ground for a new trial; *as for example where it is shown that the verdict is based on perjured evidence.*" *State v. Plude*, 2008 WI 58, ¶ 47, 310 Wis. 2d 28, 55, 750 N.W.2d 42,

C. The circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion because, in fact, there is no evidence that Thornton said, "I got his bitch ass", nor does the court account for the fact that eyewitnesses testified that Pate was the shooter.

In denying Thornton's motion, the circuit court wrote, "The State presented substantial direct and circumstantial evidence of the defendant's guilt, including evidence that the defendant stated to witnesses after the shooting, 'I got his bitch ass.' The defendant attaches too much significance to Lee's testimony, because he was not the State's only witness, and he was not the only witness to implicate the defendant in the shooting. "(R:94)

The trial court, though, does not describe any of this supposed "substantial direct and circumstantial evidence" of Thornton's guilt, except to claim that, after the shooting, Thornton said, "I got his bitch ass." There is no citation to the record for this statement which is attributed to Thornton.

Evidently, the circuit court gleaned the "evidence" from the state's response to the postconviction motion. In their response, the state claims that Jamaul Jones testified that Thornton made that remark. (R:92) The state cites to the record: "Trial Tr. 10-26-16 at 77". *Id.*

However, there is no such testimony from Jones at that

page number, nor at any other page number in the transcript.

Rather, here is what Jones said:

Q Did you hear Dre make any comments after the shots were fired or after they approached your car?A It wasn't Dre. It was James.

Q Did you tell Detective Butz and Detective Gadzalinski that Dre had said, "I got his bitch ass."?

A James said that.

(R:110-102).

Thus, for this reason alone, the decision of the circuit court denying Thornton's postconviction motion represents an erroneous exercise of discretion. It is based on a mistaken view of the evidence.

But there is more.

Besides Lee's dubious testimony, there is, in fact, no other direct testimony that Thornton was the shooter. Rather, the direct testimony was that Thornton *was not the shooter*. For example:

- Corrina Williams' trial testimony was that Thornton was in bed with her at the time of the shooting. (R:109-177)
- Richard James testified that James Pate took out an AK-47 and fired at the vehicle. (R:110-66)
- Jamaul Jones testified that he saw James Pate run out of the house with the gun, and then, after the shooting, he saw Pate holding the gun. (R:110-93, 94)
- Justin Speed testified that after he heard the shots, he

went outside and saw Pate holding the gun. (R:119-153)

Now, the state did impeach the testimony of some of these witnesses with prior inconsistent statements that were made to the police during the investigation, but these prior inconsistent statements hardly rise to level of being "substantial direct evidence" of Thornton's guilt. Prior inconsistent statements, though they may be taken as substantive evidence, they are hardly substantial and direct evidence. They are, by definition, indirect evidence.

For this additional reason, the decision of the circuit court represents an erroneous exercise of discretion.

Thus, Bradley Lee's testimony that Thornton admitted to him that he was the shooter is, in fact, the only direct evidence of Thornton's guilt. Contrary to what the circuit court found, *Lee is the state's critical witness.*

Here, the newly-discovered evidence does not merely impeach some small detail of Lee's testimony. Rather, it demonstrates that he is willing *to lie under oath in a federal court proceeding*. It is not merely a supposition, it is a finding of fact made by the district court judge that Lee cannot deny.

Had Thornton known of this evidence at the time of his trial, it would have been used to thoroughly destroy Lee's credibility. Defense counsel would have inquired into it on cross-examination of Lee. Lee would have been forced to admit it because, if he did not, such a false denial is, in and of

itself, perjury. The prosecutor would have known that Lee's false denial was perjury. A criminal conviction cannot be based on material perjured testimony. So the state, at that point, would be forced to correct the record. See, e.g., Tucker v. State, 84 Wis. 2d 630, 642, 267 N.W.2d 630, 636–37 (1978)

Plainly, the newly discovered evidence here is just the sort of evidence impeaching Lee's character that is so strong as to constitute grounds for a new trial.

Conclusion

For these reasons, it is respectfully requested that the court reverse the order of the circuit court denying Thornton's postconviction motion for a new trial; and remand the matter to the circuit court with directions to grant Thornton a new trial.