### **RECEIVED**

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN 10-02-2018

# COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2018AP871-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ANDRE L. THORNTON,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION, ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JOSEPH M. DONALD, PRESIDING

#### BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General of Wisconsin

TIFFANY M. WINTER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1065853

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 264-9487 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) wintertm@doj.state.wi.us

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Is the Defendant-Appellant, Andre L. Thornton, entitled to a new trial based on alleged newly discovered evidence?

The circuit court answered no.

This Court should answer no.

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State does not request oral argument or publication.

#### INTRODUCTION

Thornton was convicted of first-degree reckless homicide as a party to a crime. One of the many witnesses for the State was a jailhouse informant named Bradley Lee. Shortly after his conviction in 2016, Thornton discovered that Lee had committed perjury in an unrelated federal case in 2005. Thornton moved the circuit court for a new trial, and, in a cursory memorandum, argued that the newly discovered evidence of Lee's 2005 perjury warranted retrial. The circuit court denied the motion without a hearing.

It was proper for the circuit court to deny Thornton's motion for a new trial because his newly discovered evidence was mere impeachment evidence. In general, newly discovered evidence that does no more than impeach a witness is not sufficient to warrant a new trial. And specifically, the newly discovered evidence in this case is cumulative impeachment evidence of a witness that was effectively impeached at trial. This Court should affirm.

#### SUPPLEMENTAL STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### **Background**

The State charged Thornton with one count of first-degree reckless homicide, use of a dangerous weapon, as a party to a crime, for the death of Thomas Wilson. (R. 1:1–2.) Wilson had a daughter with Corrina Williams, who was Thornton's girlfriend at the time of Wilson's murder. (R. 1:2.) On the day of Wilson's death, Wilson went to Williams' home, wanting to see his daughter. (R. 1:2.) Thornton was there and confronted Wilson. (R. 1:2.) Later, after a series of events, Wilson crashed his bullet-ridden car into a tree and died. (R. 1:2–3.) The medical examiner determined that Wilson died from a gunshot wound. (R. 1:2.)

Multiple people witnessed different events leading to Wilson's death. (R. 1:2–3.) The relevant testimony of those witnesses and of Bradley Lee, the jailhouse informant, is summarized below.

#### Trial Testimony

Williams testified that she and Thornton were in a relationship and that he was at her apartment with her on the day of the shooting. (R. 109:168–71, 175.) Williams had given multiple statements to the police before trial, but she remembered very few details about what she had told police. (R. 109:183–202.)

Detective Timothy Keller testified that he had interviewed Williams, and that she relayed the following statement to him. On the day of Wilson's murder, Wilson had come by Williams' house in his car. (R. 109:214.) Thornton went outside with several of his friends to confront Wilson. (R. 109:214.) Wilson sped off, and Thornton came back inside to tell Williams that he was going to follow him. (R. 109:214.) Thornton left and returned a while later after stating that he lost track of Wilson. (R. 109:214.) Thornton

left again, and returned a short while later with a long black and brown gun. (R. 109:124.) Thornton stood watch at the window, saw Wilson, and left with the gun. (R. 109:214–15.) Williams then heard numerous gunshots outside her home. (R. 109:125.) Thornton came back into the apartment and said that he had told Wilson not to come back here, and that he thought they "got him." (R. 109:215, 222.) The prosecutor played that portion of Williams' statement for the jury. (R. 109:215–17.)

Richard James testified that he was with Thornton, Jamaul Jones, Justin Speed, and James Pate on the day of the shooting. (R. 110:41, 43.) At one point, they went to Williams' apartment complex. (R. 110:44.) While they were outside, a car pulled up and Thornton thought the driver was a man, Wilson, who had been threatening him. (R. 110:45.) Thornton went to Wilson's car and talked to Wilson. (R. 110:46.) Wilson then drove away and James, Thornton, Jones, Speed, and Pate all got into James' car to follow Wilson. (R. 110:46–48.) When James caught up to Wilson a few blocks away, he heard gunshots and thought someone was shooting at his car. (R. 110:49.) James saw Wilson turn his car and drive away, and James drove back to Williams' place. (R. 110:49–50.) James dropped Thornton off there, and then took Jones, Speed, and Pate to Jones' home. (R. 110:50.) After dropping everyone off, James went to his girlfriend's home. (R. 110:50.)

Later, Thornton called James and told him that Wilson had returned to Williams' place with more people. (R. 110:50–51.) Thornton also told James that Jones, Speed, and Pate were on their way. (R. 110:51.) The prosecutor asked

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> James, Jones, and Speed did not use Wilson's name when testifying; rather they referred to him as "dude" or "the guy." The State is using Wilson's name for clarity.

James if he remembered telling a police officer that Thornton had told him that Speed was bringing an AK-47 with him. (R. 110:52.) James did not remember saying that, but he did have a conversation with Speed in the days after the shooting, in which Speed told James that he took his AK-47 to Williams' apartment and that Pate had used it to shoot at Wilson's car. (R. 110:52, 66–69.) The prosecutor also questioned James regarding a statement he made to the police that Speed had told James that Thornton was a "fool" and "aired the place out." (R. 110:70.) James did not remember saying that Speed told him that, but he did remember someone saying that "Dre is a fool." (R. 110:70.)

Jamaul Jones, Thornton's brother, testified consistent with James regarding the events leading up to the first shooting. (R. 110:77–82.) Jones also testified that he knew that Thornton had his gun with him in James' car, but he was unsure if Thornton or Wilson fired the shots. (R. 110:84.) After James dropped off Jones, Jones got a call from Thornton that Wilson had returned to Williams' place and had a gun. (R. 110:86.) Jones went back to Williams' place with Pate and Speed to pick up Thornton. (R. 110:87.) When they arrived, Pate and Speed got out of the car and Jones saw that Speed had his AK-47 with him. (R. 110:88–90.) Pate and Speed went inside and Jones stayed outside with his car. (R. 110:90–91.)

According to Jones' testimony, while outside, Jones saw Wilson's car drive by. (R. 110:91.) He called Thornton and told him that it was time to go. (R. 110:92.) That car then came back and pulled up to the building. (R. 110:92.) Jones saw someone in the car reach out of the sunroof with a gun and start shooting. (R. 110:92–93.) He then heard loud return fire, but could not see where it was coming from. (R. 110:93–94.) Wilson's car then "pulled off." (R. 110:94.) Immediately after the car left, Thornton, Speed, and Pate ran out of the apartment complex. (R. 110:94.) Jones saw

Pate hand a gun to Speed. (R. 110:94–95.) Jones heard Speed ask Pate why he shot at the car because "it wasn't [his] fight." (R. 110:118–19.)

Jones testified that Thornton stayed at Williams' place, while Pate and Speed got into Jones' car and Jones drove back to his house. (R. 110:95–96.) During that drive, Jones asked what happened, and Speed told Jones that Pate shot at the car. (R. 110:110.)

The prosecutor questioned Jones about his prior statements to the police. He asked Jones whether he told the police that Thornton came out of the apartment building with the gun and handed it to Pate, that he saw Thornton with the rifle, and that Thornton said "I got his bitch ass." (R. 110:103, 120–21.) Jones denied making any such (R. 110:103, statements. 121.) The prosecutor also questioned Jones about his prior statement that he saw Wilson pull up in a car, heard a single gunshot, saw Thornton, Speed, and Pate come out of the apartment complex, and then heard a series of gunshots. (R. 110:121.) Jones also denied making that statement. (R. 110:121.)

Justin Speed testified fairly consistently with James and Jones regarding the events leading up to the first shooting, and consistently with Jones regarding the circumstances that brought them back to Williams' residence before the second shooting. (R. 110:125–42.) He added that he, Thornton, and Pate were in Williams' home talking for about 20 to 30 minutes, and Thornton said that there would be some problems if Wilson came back. (R. 110:142, 144.) Both he and Thornton had their guns sitting out on the kitchen table. (R. 110:142–43.) Speed was getting ready to leave when Wilson came back in his car. (R. 110:143–44.) Speed saw someone reach out of the car with a gun and heard gunshots. (R. 110:145.) Thornton said that was "the same guy" and he wanted to go outside. (R. 110:146.) Thornton grabbed his gun and Pate grabbed the AK-47. (R.

110:146–47.) Speed saw Pate shoot the AK-47 out a window. (R. 110:149.)

According to Speed, Thornton then went downstairs and Pate and Speed followed. (R. 110:150.) Before Speed reached the exterior door, he heard more shots fired outside, but could not see the shooter. (R. 110:151–52.) Speed then saw Wilson's car drive away and crash into a tree. (R. 110:154.)

Speed testified that Jones then drove up in his car, and Speed, Pate, and Thornton got in. (R. 110:154–55.) Jones drove them around the block to see what happened to Wilson's car and then drove back to Williams' place to drop off Thornton. (R. 110:155.) Jones, Speed, and Pate stayed in Jones' car and Jones took them back to his place. (R. 110:155.)

The prosecutor questioned Speed about his prior statements to the police. Specifically, he asked Speed whether he told the police that Thornton grabbed both guns from the kitchen table, and then went to the hallway window and shot out of the window with the AK-47. (R. 110:163–64.) Speed did not remember making that statement. (R. 110:163–64.) The prosecutor also asked Speed about his other multiple statements to police that Thornton was the one shooting at Wilson's car with the AK-47. (R. 110:164–68.) Speed also did not remember making those statements. (R. 110:164–68.)

Bradley Lee testified that he met Thornton when they were housed in the same jail pod. (R. 112:17–19.) Lee said that he talked to Thornton "pretty much everyday" (R. 112:19) and gave a very detailed account of what Thornton told him about Wilson's murder.

Thornton told Lee that he was hanging out at his girlfriend's place with James, Jones, Pate, and Speed,<sup>2</sup> when Wilson, the father of his girlfriend's child, showed up at 1:00 a.m. and demanded to see the baby. (R. 112:22–25.) Thornton disclosed that he and his girlfriend had "previous issues" with Wilson and that Wilson was not welcome there. (R. 112:25.) Thornton said he told Wilson to leave and they got into an argument. (R. 112:25–26.) Wilson left, but circled back around the block, so Thornton went inside of the apartment and grabbed his gun. (R. 112:26–27.) When Thornton came back outside, he told his "peers" that he was going to shoot Wilson if he came back. (R. 112:27.)

Thornton told Lee that Wilson circled the block again and yelled at them from his car. (R. 112:27.) At that point, Thornton and his "peoples" got into James' car and gave chase. (R. 112:27–28.) Thornton told Lee that he shot at Wilson's car and the car sped off. (R. 112:28.) Afterwards, Thornton was dropped off at home and everyone else left. (R. 112:28.) Around a half hour later, Wilson came back and had another man with him. (R. 112:28.) Wilson had a gun, waved it in the air, and fired a shot. (R. 112:28–29.) Thornton said he called his brother (Jones), and his brother told him he was on his way over. (R. 112:29.)

Thornton also told Lee that Jones brought Speed with him and Speed brought an AK-47 that was all black with a brown handle. (R. 112:29.) Thornton did not say that Pate was with Jones and Speed. (R. 112:29.) Thornton said that he, Jones, and Speed made a plan that if Wilson returned, they would "post up" in the upper window and Speed would shoot at the car from there. (R. 112:30.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> With the exception of Speed, Lee did not know the witnesses' last names or Wilson's name. (R. 112:23, 41–42, 44–46, 51). The State is using the last names for clarity.

Lee testified that according to Thornton, Wilson did come back, and Thornton initially told Lee that Speed shot at the car. (R. 112:43.) Later, however, Thornton changed his story and told Lee that Speed did not shoot, so Thornton grabbed the gun from him, ran downstairs, and shot up the driver's side of Wilson's car. (R. 112:30, 43.)

Lee testified that he took notes on what Thornton was telling him and provided that information to investigators. (R. 112:34–35.) He hoped that providing the information and testifying at trial would result in reduced charges or leniency in his case, but neither the police department nor the district attorney's office made that promise. (R. 112:36–37, 48.) Lee also testified that he had ten criminal convictions, and was currently facing three counts of forgery with a possible 66-month prison term. (R. 112:32, 39, 50.)

#### Jury Verdict and Sentencing

The court instructed the jury on party-to-a-crime liability. (R. 112:66–67.) During deliberations, the jury submitted a question regarding the provided verdict forms. (R. 114:2.) As relayed by the judge, the jury asked:

"If we come back with a verdict of guilty but say 'no' to the use or possession of a dangerous weapon, in parentheses 990, does that automatically infer that the defendant is then a party to the crime by aiding and abetting?" Question mark. Then in parenthetical phrase it indicates, "because it does not reference this on the verdict form."

#### (R. 114:2.)

After discussion with the parties, the court decided to provide a new verdict form to the jury that separated out the first-degree reckless homicide charge as a party to a crime, and the dangerous weapon enhancer.<sup>3</sup> (R. 114:2–3.)

The jury found Thornton guilty of first-degree reckless homicide, as a party to a crime, but acquitted him of the dangerous weapon enhancer. (R. 114:13.)

The court sentenced Thornton to 28 years of imprisonment. (R. 115:21.)

#### The Postconviction Challenge and Decision

Thornton moved for a new trial on the ground that he had newly discovered evidence that Lee, under the name of Bradley Wallace, had committed perjury in federal court ten years before testifying at Thornton's trial. (R. 88.) Thornton's argument in support of his motion was three paragraphs and alleged that a new trial was warranted because Lee was the only witness to testify that Thornton shot Wilson. (R. 88:4–5.)

In response, the State conceded that Lee's prior perjury was newly discovered, but argued that it did not warrant a new trial. (R. 92:3.) The State argued that Thornton did not establish that the new evidence was admissible evidence, that the new evidence was merely impeachment evidence, and that there was no reasonable probability of a different outcome at a new trial because Lee's testimony was not critical to the conviction. (R. 92:3–7.)

The circuit court denied the motion without a hearing. (R. 94.) The court concluded that "Lee's perjured testimony in an unrelated federal trial occurring more than ten years before Lee testified at the trial in this case . . . is at most

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Defense counsel did object to this (R. 114:4–9, 12), but that is not at issue in this case.

impeaching only in character, which is generally insufficient for a new trial." (R. 94:3.) The court also determined that even if the evidence were presented at a new trial, there was no reasonable probability of a different outcome. (R. 94:3.) The court noted that defense counsel effectively impeached Lee, given that the jury acquitted Thornton on the dangerous weapon enhancer and thus, by necessity, rejected Lee's testimony that Thornton was the one who shot Wilson. (R. 94:3.)

Thornton appeals.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court reviews a circuit court's ruling on the first four prongs of the newly discovered evidence test for an erroneous exercise of discretion.  $State\ v.\ Vollbrecht$ , 2012 WI App 90, ¶ 18, 344 Wis. 2d 69, 820 N.W.2d 443. This Court independently reviews the fifth prong: whether there is a reasonable probability that the new evidence would have affected the result of the trial. Id.

#### **ARGUMENT**

The circuit court properly denied Thornton's motion for a new trial.

A. To warrant a new trial, newly discovered evidence must be more than cumulative impeachment of character evidence.

"Motions for a new trial based on newly discovered evidence are entertained with great caution." State v. Morse, 2005 WI App 223, ¶ 14, 287 Wis. 2d 369, 706 N.W.2d 152 (citation omitted). Where a defendant seeks a new trial based on newly discovered evidence, the defendant must show, "by clear and convincing evidence, that (1) the evidence was discovered after conviction, (2) the defendant was not negligent in seeking to discover it, (3) the evidence is

material to an issue in the case, and (4) the evidence is not merely cumulative." *Vollbrecht*, 344 Wis. 2d 69, ¶ 18.

"Newly discovered evidence is cumulative where it tends to address 'a fact established by existing evidence." State v. McAlister, 2018 WI 34, ¶ 37, 380 Wis. 2d 684, 911 N.W.2d 77, reconsideration denied, 2018 WI 90, 383 Wis. 2d 146. "Where the credibility of a prosecution witness was tested at trial, evidence that again attacks the credibility of that witness is cumulative." Id. ¶ 39 (citation omitted).

If the defendant satisfies the first four criteria, "then 'the circuit court must determine whether a reasonable probability exists that a different result would be reached in a trial." State v. Avery, 2013 WI 13, ¶ 25, 345 Wis. 2d 407, 826 N.W.2d 60 (citation omitted). "A reasonable probability of a different result exists if there is a reasonable probability that a jury, looking at both the old and the new evidence, would have a reasonable doubt as to the defendant's guilt." Id. (citation omitted). "If the newly discovered evidence fails to satisfy any one of these five requirements, it is not sufficient to warrant a new trial." State v. Eckert, 203 Wis. 2d 497, 516, 553 N.W.2d 539 (Ct. App. 1996).

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